## SP DISCUSSION PAPER

NO. 0906

Public Disclosure Authorized



Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC)

Mpho Makhema

# April 2009



# Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC)<sup>1</sup>

by Mpho Makhema<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

This report provides an overview of the provision of social protection to refugees and asylum seekers from Sub-Saharan Africa in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). This includes analyzing the legal framework and levels of implementation, as well as proposing policy directions on the national and regional levels. After giving an overview of the region's historical and legal context, the report focuses on the case studies of Botswana and South Africa to illustrate the wide variation of social protection framework and practices in the region.

JEL Classification: K33, F22, K49

Keywords: International Law, Refugees, Southern African Development Community,

Social Protection, International Migration

The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the author. They do not necessarily represent the view of the World Bank, its Executive Directors, or the countries they represent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A paper prepared as part of the project on Social Protection And Migration In Sub-Sahara Africa: Case Studies On Access, Portability, and Inclusion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mpho Makhema works as the Vision 2016 Council Secretary of the Botswana Institute for Development Policy Analysis (BIDPA). She was employed by the Botswana Council for Refugees from 1982 as a Senior Social Counsellor and was Director from 1991-2000.

## **Table of Contents**

1.		Introduction	3
2.		Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers - Conceptual	
		Challenges	
3.		Historical Overview of Refugee Flows in Southern Africa	5
	3.1.	Angola	9
	3.2.	Botswana	. 10
	3.3.	Democratic Republic of Congo	. 10
	3.4.	Lesotho	
	3.5.	Madagascar and Mauritius	. 11
	3.6.	Malawi	. 11
	3.7.	Mozambique	. 11
	3.8.	Namibia	. 12
	3.9.	South Africa	. 12
	3.10	. Swaziland	. 12
	3.11	. Tanzania	. 13
	3.12		
	3.13		
4.		Legal Provisions for the Social Protection of Refugees and Asylum Seekers	
	4.1.	International	
	4.2.	Regional	
	4.3.	Bilateral	
	4.4.	National	. 22
5.		Institutional Frameworks for the Provision of Social Protection for Refugees	
		and Asylum Seekers in Botswana and South Africa	25
6.		Implementation of Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in	
		Botswana and South Africa	
	6.1.		
_	6.2.		. 31
7.		Main Problems in Providing Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum	
_		Seekers in Botswana and South Africa	
8.		Good Practices and other Policy Considerations	39

# 1. Introduction

This report provides an overview of the provision of social protection to refugees and asylum seekers from Sub-Saharan Africa in the Southern African Development Community (SADC).<sup>3</sup> This includes analyzing the legal framework and levels of implementation, as well as proposing policy directions on the national and regional levels. After giving an overview of the region's historical and legal context, the report focuses on the case studies of Botswana and South Africa to illustrate the wide variation of social protection framework and practices in the region.

The two case studies of South Africa and Botswana represent very different models for the provision of social protection to refugees and asylum seekers. Some of the key differences are summarized in Table 1. Although both countries arrived at their model of refugee reception through specific historical circumstances, they nonetheless represent two ideal-typical strategies for refugee reception which occur around the world and which have very different implications for the provision of social protection.

Table 1. Case Study Comparison		
	Botswana	South Africa
Refugee Law	Security and control	Rights-based
Institutional social	Parallel non-governmental	Mainstream governmental
protection service		
providers for refugees		
Location of service	Concentrated, camp-based	Dispersed, self-settled
provision		
Sustainability of social	Low, externally funded,	High, mainstream
protection	based on sufficient numbers	government funded,
	of refugees so closed down	independent of numbers of
	when numbers fall	refugees although stretched
		with rising numbers

 Table 1: Case Study Comparison

The report's key findings include:

- The importance of a strong domestic legal framework on civil and socio-economic rights for refugees as the basis for effective and sustainable social protection;
- The benefits of mainstream domestic, rather than parallel external, service providers;
- The importance of continuous independent monitoring of social protection provision to refugees, either through civil society or quasi-governmental monitoring agencies;
- The lack of knowledge about and support for informal social protection mechanisms.

The paper will first briefly review the conceptual challenges, which refugees and asylum seekers pose for the provision of social protection. Section 3 will then summarize the history of refugee flows in Southern Africa as well as the development of different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Member states of the Southern African Development Community are Angola, Botswana, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

refugee reception regimes, which resulted from this history. Section 4 outlines the legal provisions currently in place regarding the social protection of refugees and asylum seekers, including provisions at the international, regional, bilateral and national levels, with a focus on the Botswanan and South African case studies. Section 5 will describe the institutional frameworks in Botswana and South Africa, which are correlates of the different legal regimes. Section 6 breaks down the experiences of Botswana and South Africa in implementing social protection according to different concrete services. This will be followed by an analysis of key issues arising from the previous two sections, comparing Botswana's camp-based model and South Africa's self-settled model of refugee reception, including legal gaps and implementation challenges (Section 7). Finally, good practices and other policy implications will be considered in Section 8.

The information used to compile this report was drawn from a range of written secondary sources; including laws, reports and presentations, as well as interviews conducted with government officials, representatives of various NGOs, UNHCR, refugees and asylum seekers. It also draws on the personal professional experience of the authors, acquired through working with refugees and refugee service organizations in Botswana and South Africa for many years.

# 2. Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers – Conceptual Challenges

Social protection (SP) is defined as "all interventions from public, private and voluntary organizations and informal networks to support communities, households and individuals in their efforts to prevent, manage and overcome risks and vulnerabilities and enhance the social status and rights of the marginalized"<sup>4</sup> There is an extensive and long-standing academic and policy debate on the meaning and ideal extent of social protection, particularly concerning its impact on the relationship between citizens and the state. The discussion on social protection for non-citizens and the implications for the relationship between non-citizens and the host state, however, are more recent. Social protection issues raise three principal questions which impact on practice with regard to refugee and asylum seeker access to social protection?; b) which institution is responsible for providing social protection?; and c) what are the ideal mechanisms through which to provide social protection? A brief consideration of these questions will serve to preface the description of Southern African practices in the report.

Most SP provisions remain within the national realm and have yet few effective international provisions. This has several consequences for a consideration of SP for refugees and asylum seekers (R&AS) and for migrants in general.

<sup>4</sup> This definition, set out in the proposal for the research project on Social Protection and Migration in Sub-Saharan Africa: Case Studies on Access, Portability and Inclusion, builds on Holzmann and Joergensen (2000), Shepherd (2004), and Devereux and (Sabates-Wheeler 2005).

Firstly, the way in which a state has answered the three questions above for its own citizens impacts on the way in which it conceives of SP for non-citizens. International, regional and national variation in SP mechanisms for R&AS is therefore at least partly a function of variation in SP for citizens of different countries and regions. One of the key differences between refugee protection in Africa compared with more wealthy parts of the world is that many African states have only very limited SP for their own citizens. This either means that they cannot provide SP to R&AS either, or that SP has to come from external actors, such as international or non-governmental organizations.

Secondly, since most of the answers to the above questions rely on a relationship between an individual and a state, the fact that migrants have moved across a national border significantly changes the answers required. For example in relation to questions 1) and 2), although some authors argue that SP should be based on a universal human right to life, dignity and basic physical welfare, and therefore that responsibility for SP provision goes beyond any particular state, most SP provisions are based on an understanding of mutual responsibility between an individual and a particular state. Thus, SP is provided in (implicit or explicit) return for loyalty to the state, payment of taxes, potential future votes, etc. This means that non-citizens, who are by definition outside such a national 'social contract' are also outside the logic underpinning SP.

Third, if question 3) is answered through contributory (pre-saving) schemes which require some resource inputs from the beneficiaries themselves, then recently arrived migrants and R&SA do not have a personal history of contributions or savings to draw on. In many cases migrants may spend their productive years in one place and their SP receiving years in another place and the balance between individual contributions to the general social income and social protection contributions to an individual income (e.g. a pension is paid after a long period of productive work does not work out It is much more difficult to design mechanisms for the provision or portability of SP which cross national borders, since the institutional frameworks which fund and implement SP mechanisms are almost all national. Some attempts to address this issue are the topic of other reports within this research framework.

In addition to these challenges faced by all cross-border migrants, there are additional issues regarding the provision of SP to R&AS. Even where international, regional or bilateral mechanisms are or could be put in place to manage the provision of SP across borders, refugees have fled their countries of origin precisely because of a breakdown in the 'social contract' with the state, and so SP provisions based on home-state contributions would not apply. Moreover, concerning host-state-based SP provision, refugee flows are often sudden and large, placing an unexpected (and un-budgeted) burden on the host state's public purse. The next paragraph will give an overview on how various countries have dealt with these challenges in the past.

# 3. Historical Overview of Refugee Flows in Southern Africa

The history of refugee flows in Southern Africa is shaped by several distinct periods: precolonial, colonial, independence struggles and post-colonial. Each period led to different kinds of refugee flows and to the development of different institutional and legal responses to refugees. This section will mainly focus on the latter two periods since they have the most impact on current SP practices e.g. by shaping regional institutions such as SADC and provide the current context of migration. After characterizing the regional context, the recent and current refugee situation in each of the SADC member countries will be outlined.

In the pre-colonial context the Southern African region, as was the case in the rest of the continent, was characterized by widespread migration without the limitations imposed by strict territorial borders between states or nations. When borders were imposed during the colonial period, these were drawn through existing communities and kin-groups. The lasting implications of this process today are that many refugee flows across modern borders have nonetheless remained within the same ethnic area, among linguistic and blood kin on the other side of a border. This was the case for Angolans in Zambia in the 1960s, Zimbabweans in Mozambique in the 1970s, Mozambicans in South Africa in the 1980s, and to some extent for Ndebele-speaking Zimbabweans in South Africa today. There was virtually no official state provision of SP in these cases, in practice however, 'social' protection was provided by host communities through the provision of emergency food and shelter, land, work opportunities and integration into existing local social mechanisms for alleviating extreme need and vulnerability.

The colonial period, in addition to displacement caused by colonial conquest wars and, in some cases, extreme exploitation, also entrenched a specific labor migration regime in the region. In particular from the mid-1800s onward, this regime was centered on South Africa and to some extent Zimbabwe as labor magnets, while most other countries in the region became labor suppliers.<sup>5</sup> This labor migration system had two relevant lasting effects for this discussion. Firstly, it established migration routes throughout the region, which also shaped later refugee flows to some extent, but more significantly, it led to the establishment of a series of cross-border arrangements for managing labor migration related 'social protection' payments. While these systems were limited and designed to protect the interests of employers rather than migrant workers they did provide potentially useful institutional models (if appropriately adapted) for bilateral and regional cross-border payments, which were later abandoned. These included partial deferred payment of wages into home-country accounts and the payment of pension and disability payments into home country accounts.

Southern Africa's independence struggles continued for a protracted period, with the first country gaining independence and majority rule being the Congo (then renamed Zaire and now the Democratic Republic of Congo) in 1960, with South Africa being the last in 1994. This meant that there was an important period of overlap between continued colonial or minority rule in some countries (notably Namibia, Zimbabwe and South

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This labor migration system did not include Angola, Botswana, DRC or Mauritius to a significant extent. The greatest impacts were felt in Mozambique, Lesotho, Swaziland, Malawi and Zambia (until the 1970s for the latter two).

Africa), while their neighbors were building post-colonial regimes, as discussed further below.

The decolonization processes led to large-scale displacement in the region. While some countries such as Lesotho and Swaziland were never fully colonized and others had relatively peaceful transitions to self-rule (such as Botswana, Tanzania, Malawi, Zambia, and Mauritius), many countries in the region, especially those with settler colonies, fought bloody wars before gaining independence. These included Angola and Mozambique (1975), Zimbabwe (1980), Namibia (1990) and South Africa (1994).<sup>6</sup> During this period, newly independent neighboring countries generally allowed refugees to enter, remain and work in their countries freely, due to the shared political process of decolonization and the expectation of quick return once independence had been gained. 'Social' protection, as above, was not provided by the state, which in most cases was just starting to plan schemes for its own citizens, but by integration into local communities, even if only temporarily. Another element of the decolonization wars was the large-scale movement of white settlers out of the newly independent countries. While many returned to their countries of origin or moved to other parts of the world, many also remained the region, often re-establishing themselves in the remaining settler colonies South Africa and Rhodesia, where they were welcomed as permanent residents or citizens rather than as refugees.

In response to the independence wars of the 1960s, the newly established Organization of African Unity (OAU) passed a Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa in 1969, which extended the definition of who should be recognized as a refugee beyond the still explicitly Eurocentric definition enshrined in the United Nations Convention relating to the Status of Refugees (1951). The OAU Convention, with the 1951 UN Convention, would from then on provide the basic legal framework for the protection of refugees in Africa.

Conflicts in Southern Africa did not end with independence, and Angola (1975-2002), the DRC (Zaire) (most recently from 1997-2002 and ongoing), and Mozambique (1976-1992) became embroiled in civil wars soon after independence, which lasted for decades. In the 1970s and 1980s, apartheid South Africa and, until 1980, white-ruled Rhodesia, played an active role in exacerbating the conflicts in the region, especially in Angola and Mozambique. The apartheid regime also actively pursued South African political exiles into neighboring countries and attacked countries in the region, which harbored members of the South African liberation movements. This was especially the case with Angola, Mozambique, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia, and post-independence Zimbabwe. African refugees (e.g. in contrast to the white settlers of the 1960s and 70s) from regional conflicts who fled into South Africa were not recognized as refugees and deported or ignored, as was especially the case with Mozambican refugees in South Africa from 1985-1992. Table 1 shows the main regional refugee flows of the period. Some countries, such as DRC and Tanzania, also hosted (and continue to host) large numbers of refugees from countries outside the Southern African region, especially from Rwanda and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even though South Africa's transition to majority democracy is often presented as peaceful, hundreds of thousands of people died in the process of the liberation struggle.

Burundi. In this context, especially the Front-Line States bordering South Africa saw refugee protection as part of the political anti-apartheid project.

Source Country	Main Host Countries within SADC
Angola (1975-2002)	Zambia
	The DRC
	The Republic of Congo (Brazzaville)
	Namibia
	South Africa (after 1990)
Mozambique (1976-1992)	Zimbabwe
	Malawi
	South Africa (from 1985)
DRC (1997-2002 and ongoing)	Angola
	Namibia
	Malawi
	South Africa
	Tanzania
	Zambia
	Zimbabwe
South Africa (1970s - 1994)	Swaziland
	Lesotho
	Mozambique
	Tanzania
	Zambia
	Zimbabwe (from 1980)
Namibia (1966-1988)	Botswana
	South Africa

 Table 2: Large Refugee Flows in Southern Africa, 1960-2006

The regional institutions which resulted from this period between the 1960s and the introduction of majority rule in South Africa in 1994 include the Southern African Development Community, which grew out of the set of Front Line States (FLS). In 1980, the FLS invited other Southern African countries to join them in establishing the Southern African Development Community.<sup>7</sup> The legal provisions relating to refugees and asylum seekers and social protection resulting from SADC provisions are described further below.

Since 1994, refugee flows in the region have changed once again, with democratic South Africa becoming a host for refugees from around the continent, including within the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Southern African Development Coordination Conference was established with the Lusaka Declaration in 1980. Original member states were Angola, Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia and newly independent Zimbabwe. The Conference was transformed into the Southern African Development Community (SADC) in 1992 in Windhoek, Namibia. They were later joined by the DRC, Madagascar, Mauritius, Namibia and South Africa.

region from Angola and DRC. While the Mozambican and Angolan conflicts were resolved in respectively 1992 and 2002, the DRC continues to produce refugees to date. Since 2000, the political instability and economic collapse of Zimbabwe have led to a new flow of Zimbabweans into the region (especially South Africa and Botswana, with increasing numbers in Mozambique and Zambia since 2005), although there is little agreement in the region of whether most of these Zimbabweans should be recognized as refugees or not<sup>8</sup>

In the absence of a unifying political goal, whether independence or the fight against apartheid, Southern African governments have joined the rest of the world in viewing migration flows as potential security risks and developmental burdens since the 1990s. On the one hand they aim to control migration flows through more active and codified migration policies than previously. On the other hand, there have been initiatives within the SADC context toward greater regional integration, including freer movement of persons residing in the region. The tug-of-war between the trends toward control and liberalization of movement has meant that so far, there has not been a significant opening of a migration regime in the region, nor has there been any practical harmonization of refugee protection regimes.

As this brief history points out, the member countries of SADC have not only very different experiences of refugee flows but have also responded to refugees in different ways. Furthermore, the regional political context for refugee flows has changed dramatically over time with varying policy results. Therefore the rest of this section outlines the main refugee flows and domestic responses in each of the SADC member states.

## 3.1. Angola

Angola has been a refugee producing country for decades. Since the end of the civil war in 2002, Angolan refugees have been returning to the country, spontaneously and through organized repatriation programs from neighboring countries. Therefore the country's main displacement challenges today are in relation to internally displaced people and the reintegration of returnees. Despite large-scale spontaneous return of IDP to their home areas since 2002, 1.4 million people remained displaced within Angola with approximately 300,000 living in IDP centers around the country in 2005. Angola is also providing asylum to 15 500 registered refugees and asylum seekers in 2007, of which 14 000 are from the DRC.<sup>9</sup> It is likely that many more refugees from the Great Lakes Region remain unregistered and have self-settled in Angola. The refugee program is managed by UNHCR and its implementing agencies, including the Lutheran World Federation (LWF).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Polzer, T. (2007). Responding to Zimbabwean Migration to South Africa - Evaluating Options. Johannesburg, Wits Forced Migration Studies Programme, Wits Law School and Lawyers for Human Rights: 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>.

#### 3.2. Botswana

Botswana's refugee protection regime stems from a history of providing protection to refugees from the white minority governed states (Namibia, South Africa and Zimbabwe) surrounding it until the mid-1990s. Refugees from Namibia at different periods of time included some 1,000 Herero from then-South West Africa in 1904; refugees from the apartheid-era fighting in the 1980s, some whom transited to Zambia; and refugees from Caprivi in the mid-1990s. The majority of each of these groups was repatriated after the end of the respective conflicts. South Africans also fled to Botswana, including waves related to the 1960 Sharpeville massacre and the 1976 Soweto Uprising. Many transited to then-Tanganyika, while others were settled in Dukwi refugee camp or integrated. The numbers of those who remained in Botswana are not known, but many repatriated on South African majority rule. The first Angolan refugees arrived in Botswana in 1965, with continuous new arrivals into the mid-1990s. Many were granted citizenship while others opted to repatriate. Finally, Zimbabwean refugees during the 1970s liberation struggle entered Botswana in large numbers, necessitating the establishment of three refugee camps in Selibe Pikwe, Francistown and Dukwi. Most Zimbabweans were repatriated in 1979/80 while those who did not return were granted citizenship. During the Gukurahundi campaign in southern Zimbabwe, there was another wave of refugees in Botswana. Most recently, Zimbabweans fleeing the political and economic turmoil in their country have entered Botswana in large numbers, but are not being received as refugees.

Other refugee groups in the country since the 1990s include people from the DRC, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique and, currently in large numbers, from Zimbabwe. Botswana also shelters small numbers of refugees from Chad, Ghana, Libya, Nigeria, Sudan, Uganda and even Yugoslavia. At the end of 2006 there were 2800 camp-based refugees and approximately 1000 asylum seekers in the country and because it was expected that Angolan and Namibian refugees would repatriate during 2007.<sup>10</sup> Because of the small residual number of refugees, refugee assistance programs have been virtually closed down, with UNHCR planning to withdraw at the end of 2007 or in 2008, although the Dukwi camp remains open under the aegis of the Office of the Presidency.

Botswana's refugee protection system combines UNHCR and government-supported programs, and includes camp-based settlement, the encouragement of voluntary repatriation, and the ad hoc option of citizenship for those who do not wish to be repatriated. As noted above, some groups, notably South Africans, have integrated completely.

## 3.3. Democratic Republic of Congo

The DRC is also predominantly a refugee producing country, and, although the civil war has formally ended, continued fighting in the east of the country still produces new refugee flows. Internal displacement and the concomitant fast urbanization rates are a major developmental challenge in the country, which has social protection implications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> UNHCR (2006). Country Operations Plan Botswana - Overview.

The country also hosts 208,500 refugees and asylum seekers half of them from Angola.<sup>11</sup> Extensive rights for refugees and foreigners in general are included in the 2002 Refugee Law and the 2006 Constitution.<sup>12</sup> This includes freedom of movement and most refugees live integrated among Congolese in either rural border areas or urban areas.

# 3.4. Lesotho

Lesotho's small size and its unusual position of being entirely surrounded by South Africa and economically dependent on it, has shaped its history of refugee protection. Persons fleeing from political unrest within Lesotho generally moved into South Africa in the guise of economic migrants, blending in with the Sesotho-speaking South African population, while South African refugees and freedom fighters used Lesotho as a place of refuge during the anti-apartheid struggle in the 1970s and 80s. Lesotho only hosts c. 60 refugees from other countries.<sup>13</sup>

## 3.5. Madagascar and Mauritius

Madagascar and Mauritius do not have established refugee policies. Madagascar has provided asylum to 60 refugees from Burundi, Ethiopia, Rwanda, and Sudan. Madagascar's welfare program for refugees was funded by UNHCR. At present its refugee population is not from the SADC region.<sup>14</sup> Mauritius has not granted asylum to anyone.<sup>15</sup>

## 3.6. Malawi

Malawi hosted thousands of Mozambican and Rhodesian refugees in the 1970s and 1980s. Most of these refugees were repatriated when majority rule was attained in their home countries. It now hosts 9,200 refugees and asylum seekers who are mostly from the Great Lakes region.<sup>16</sup> The refugee program is funded through UNHCR. Refugees are kept in camps where they are provided with basic assistance such as shelter, food, water, relief items, education and health care, but do not enjoy the right to work and move outside and camps.

## 3.7. Mozambique

The Mozambican civil war resulted in approximately two million people fleeing Mozambique into neighboring countries between 1976 and 1992. Most of these were repatriated by the mid-1990s. Today, Mozambique hosts a relatively small number of refugees, who are mostly not from the SADC region but from DRC, Burundi, Rwanda, Angola, and Somalia, and who are in many cases transiting to South Africa. UNHCR is responsible for looking after refugees in Mozambique and there is a policy of encampment. However, significant numbers of refugees are self-settled in the larger

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Bureau of Democracy, H. R., and Labor, (2006). Lesotho. <u>Country Reports on Human Rights Practices</u>. U.S. Department of State. http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2006/78741.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> UNHCR 2001:107

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Bureau of Democracy, H. R., and Labor, (2006). Mauritius. <u>Country Reports on Human Rights Practices</u>. U.S. Department of State. http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2006/78747.htm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). World Refugee Survey.

towns and in Maputo. In 2006 Mozambique hosted 6,900 registered refugees and asylum seekers.<sup>17</sup> The most recent development is the movement of Zimbabweans into Mozambique due to the deepening economic crisis in Zimbabwe, although they are not recognized as refugees.

## 3.8. Namibia

The majority of the refugee population in Namibia is from Angola. Refugees do not have freedom of movement and are confined to the Osire refugee camp. Approximately 500 refugees who have work or study permits live outside the camp. National Refugee Committee conducts status determination. Namibia was hosting 6,600 refugees and asylum seekers in 2006.<sup>18</sup>

## 3.9. South Africa

South Africa integrated various groups of white settlers from neighboring countries in the 1960s and 70s (especially from Mozambique, Namibia and Zimbabwe), while providing no protection for black refugees from those countries. Most notably, about 350,000 Mozambican refugees fled into South Africa from 1985, who were not granted refugee status until 1993, but who were allowed to settle informally in the black 'homelands' in the South African border areas.<sup>19</sup> Since 1994, South Africa has increasingly hosted large numbers of refugees from around the continent, with large contingents from the DRC, Somalia, Zimbabwe, and Ethiopia. In 2006, there were about 170,000 refugees and asylum seekers, including a backlog of 80,000 unprocessed asylum applications. There were 53,361 new asylum applications, making it the largest host of new individual asylum seekers on the continent.<sup>20</sup> Since 2000 South Africa has been hosting increasing numbers of Zimbabweans, of whom 44,000 have applied for asylum.<sup>21</sup> However, the total number of R&AS remains much lower than smaller and poorer countries such as Tanzania or Zambia. South Africa's current policy framework for refugee protection is based on urban self-settlement with extensive socio-economic rights for asylum seekers and refugees, including the right to work.

## 3.10. Swaziland

Swaziland has historically assisted refugees fleeing from South Africa to transit to Mozambique. Today, many asylum seekers are from the Great Lakes and the Horn of Africa, and are transiting through Swaziland to South Africa for better opportunities.<sup>22</sup> In 2006, Swaziland was hosting less than 1000 refugees and asylum seekers. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>.

<sup>18</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Polzer, T. (2007). "Adapting to Changing Legal Frameworks: Mozambican Refugees in South Africa - an Historical Overview." <u>International Journal of Refugee Law</u> **19**(1): 22-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Department of Home Affairs, Refugee Statistics 2006; UNHCR (2006). 2006 Global Trends: Refugees, Asylum-seekers, Returnees, Internally Displaced and Stateless Persons. Geneva, UNHCR.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$  Cumulative UNHCR statistics to June 2007. It is estimated that there are currently c. 1 million Zimbabweans in South Africa in total.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Gumedze, S. (2001). Refugee Protection in Swaziland

http://www.sarpn.org.za/CountryPovertyPapers/Swaziland/Refugee/index.php accessed on 19th May 2007, Southern African Regional Poverty Network.

government of Swaziland through the Ministry of Home Affairs is responsible for the physical and legal protection of refugees. Implementation is administered through a tripartite agreement between the Government, UNHCR and Caritas. The Political Asylum Committee is responsible for determining the refugee status of asylum seekers and UNHCR is accorded observer status.

## 3.11. Tanzania

Tanzania has a long history of providing protection to refugees. It has sheltered hundreds of thousands of refugees for over four decades. In 2006, Tanzania still had over 485,000 refugees, mostly from Burundi and the DRC, after forcibly repatriating thousands of Rwandans and Burundians since 2002, including many who had lived in the country for 30-40 years. The Refugee Act requires camp-based settlement, and restrictions on movement are enforced,<sup>23</sup> although there are also refugees living clandestinely in villages and urban areas. Refugees are not allowed to work. There are two distinct status determination procedures, with refugees from the DRC and Burundi granted prima facie (group) status, and refugees from other countries screened by a National Eligibility Committee and the Minister of Home Affairs.

## 3.12. Zambia

In the past, Zambia has provided asylum to refugees from Angola, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa and Zimbabwe. Today, after a year of extensive repatriation to Angola, Zambia was still hosting 120,000 refugees in 2006, including Angolans who have refused repatriation and persons from the DRC.<sup>24</sup> While Zambia practiced an open reception policy for many years, it has now enacted more restrictive refugee legislation. Refugees are required to live in rural camps in the western and northern regions of the country and cannot acquire Zambian citizenship or obtain permanent residence status.<sup>25</sup> There are, however, c. 50,000 refugees living outside the camps, who are not officially registered as refugees and the UNHCR aims to encourage local integration of some of the remaining refugees.<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Ibid.

<sup>25</sup> UNHCR (2007). Global Appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>. UNHCR (2007). Global Appeal. p.186

#### 3.13. Zimbabwe

Zimbabwe has historically hosted refugees from Mozambique as well as providing sanctuary for South African liberation fighters. More recently, the country has provided refuge to people from the DRC, Angola and Somalia. In 2006 there were 3800 refugees and asylum seekers registered in Zimbabwe.<sup>27</sup> With the political unrest and economic collapse of Zimbabwe in 2002, most of the refugees in the country have since moved elsewhere, especially South Africa.

State	Act	Year
Angola	Law on Refugee Status (8/1990)	1990
Botswana	Refugees Recognition and Control Act	1967
DRC	Refugee Status Act (21/2002)	2002
Lesotho	Refugee Act	1983
Madagascar	Decree for the creation of a refugee office within the Ministry for the Interior	1962
Malawi	Refugee Act	1989
Mauritius	No refugee legislation	
Mozambique	Refugee Act (21/1991)	1991
Namibia	Refugees (Recognition and Control) Act	1999
South Africa	Refugee Act	1998
Swaziland	Refugees Control Order	1978
Tanzania	Refugees Act	1998
Zambia	Refugee (Control) Act	1970
Zimbabwe	Refugee Act	1983

 Table 3: Domestic Legislation regarding refugees and asylum seekers in SADC

 member states

Camps	Self-settlement
Botswana	Angola
Malawi	DRC
Mozambique	Lesotho
Namibia	South Africa
Tanzania	Swaziland
Zambia	
Zimbabwe	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). <u>World Refugee Survey</u>.

Host State	UNHCR
Botswana	Angola
DRC	Mozambique
Malawi	
Namibia	
Lesotho	
South Africa	
Swaziland	
Tanzania	
Zambia	
Zimbabwe	

**Table 5: Agency Responsible for Refugee Protection** 

# 4. Legal Provisions for the Social Protection of Refugees and Asylum Seekers

This section briefly outlines the legal provisions, which frame the SP of refugees and asylum seekers in Southern Africa. This includes international, regional, bilateral and domestic instruments. In all cases, there are two kinds of legal mechanisms, which apply, namely instruments relating to refugee protection and those relating to social and economic rights and social protection generally.

After describing the main international and regional legal provisions, which apply to all SADC member states, the report will focus on the case studies of South Africa and Botswana. In this section, this involves describing the bilateral and national legal frameworks in the two countries, followed by sections on the corollary institutional frameworks and the ways in which specific SP needs are addressed.

#### 4.1. International

International instruments relating to refugee protection and social protection will only be listed briefly here, as they have been reviewed extensively elsewhere.<sup>28</sup> This section will merely note the extent to which the SADC member countries, and especially Botswana and South Africa, have acceded to these instruments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Holzmann, R. and S. Jorgensen (2001). "Social Risk Management: A New Conceptual Framework for Social Protection, and Beyond "<u>International Tax and Public Finance</u> 8(4): 529-556, Reid, C. (2005). "International Law and Legal Instruments." <u>Forced Migration Online Study Guide</u>.

#### **Box 1: International Legal Instruments**

International instruments regulating the protection of refugees:

 the 1951 UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, and the 1967 Protocol amending this Convention;

Related instruments on the rights of migrants and non-nationals:

- the 1985 Declaration on the Human Rights of Individuals Who are not Nationals of the Country in which They Live
- the 1990 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

Key international instruments outlining the principle rights to social protection:

- The 1948 University Declaration of Human Rights
- The 1966 Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

While the 1951 Convention is legally binding, the 1985 Declaration is considered a guideline. The 1990 Convention on the Rights of Migrant Workers has entered into force since 2003 through ratification by twenty countries. , As it is not yet widely ratified and, while legally binding, does therefore not have the same weight as the 1951 Convention elements of which have become customary law, even for those countries who have not ratified it.

Botswana acceded to the 1951 UN Convention and the 1967 protocol in 1969. However, it made reservations on Articles 17, 26, 31,32, and 34. These reservations reflect the concerns of the Botswana government due to the refugee context at the time. The reservation of Article 17, conferring upon refugee's favorable treatment with regard to wage earning and employment, was justified on the basis of Botswana's high unemployment rate. Article 26, providing for freedom of movement of refugees, was reserved by the ruling Botswana Democratic Party for reasons of domestic politics and 'security'. This was mainly because many refugees in the 1960s were from liberation movements committed to socialism and were, furthermore, aligned with the Botswana opposition parties, Botswana National Front and Botswana People's Party. Such political reasons also motivated the reservations of Articles 31 and 32 which, respectively, prohibit the imposition of penalties for refugees unlawfully entering a contracting state and prohibit the expulsion of a refugee except on the grounds of national security or public order. Finally, Article 34, requiring a contracting state to facilitate the assimilation and naturalization of refugees, was reserved due to a concern with a potential change in the balance of power between ethnic groups within Botswana, should significant numbers of people from neighboring countries become naturalized.

South Africa acceded to the international conventions governing the protection of refugees and asylum seekers not until after achieving majority rule. Nevertheless, it ratified both, the 1951 UN and the 1969 OAU Conventions, without reservations.

The 1951 UN Convention's Articles 20-24 relate directly to social protection. They provide that:

- Article 20: Refugees should have the same rights as citizens whether a state rationing system exists;
- Article 21: Refugees should be treated as 'favorably as possible' and 'not less [favorably] than ... aliens generally in the same circumstances' with regard to public housing;
- Article 22: Refugees should receive the same treatment as national regarding access to elementary education and treatment 'as favorable as possible' regarding other education;
- Article 23: Refugees should be accorded the same treatment as nations with regard to public relief and assistance.

Article 24 outlines the conditions under which social security should be made available to refugees (see box 2 below). These provisions are extensive and based on the principle of parity with nationals where possible. However, the difficulty associated with contributory schemes and 'acquired rights' as noted in the introduction is reflected here in sections 24 (1)(b)(i) and (ii).

Box 2: 1951 UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, Provisions for Social Protection

#### Article 24 Labor legislation and social security

(1) The Contracting States shall accord to refugees lawfully staying in their territory the same treatment as is accorded to nationals in respect of the following matters:

(a) In so far as such matters are governed by laws or regulations or are subject to the control of administrative authorities: remuneration, including family allowances where these form part of remuneration, hours of work, overtime arrangements, holidays with pay, restrictions on home work, minimum age of employment, apprenticeship and training, women's work and the work of young persons, and the enjoyment of the benefits of collective bargaining;

(b) Social security (legal provisions in respect of employment injury, occupational diseases, maternity, sickness, disability, old age, death, unemployment, family responsibilities and any other contingency which, according to national laws or regulations, is covered by a social security scheme), subject to the following limitations:

(i) There may be appropriate arrangements for the maintenance of acquired rights and rights in course of acquisition;

(ii) National laws or regulations of the country of residence may prescribe special arrangements concerning benefits or portions of benefits which are payable wholly out of public funds, and concerning allowances paid to persons who do not fulfill the contribution conditions prescribed for the award of a normal pension.

(2) The right to compensation for the death of a refugee resulting from employment injury or from occupational disease shall not be affected by the fact that the residence of the beneficiary is outside the territory of the Contracting State.

(3) The Contracting States shall extend to refugees the benefits of agreements concluded between them, or which may be concluded between them in the future, concerning the maintenance of acquired rights and rights in the process of acquisition in regard to social security, subject only to the conditions which apply to nationals of the States signatory to the agreements in question.

(4) The Contracting States will give sympathetic consideration to extending to refugees so far as possible the benefits of similar agreements which may at any time be in force between such Contracting States and non-contracting States.

The 1985 UN Declaration on the Human Rights of Individuals Who are not Nationals of the Country in which They Live states in Article 8 (1) (c) that:

1. Aliens lawfully residing in the territory of a State shall also enjoy, in accordance with the national laws, the following rights, subject to their obligations under article  $4:^{29}$ 

(c) The right to health protection, medical care, social security, social services, education, rest and leisure, provided that they fulfill the requirements under the relevant regulations for participation and that undue strain is not placed on the resources of the State.

The 1990 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (entered into force in 2003) includes extensive provisions for social protection, including

- Article 27: Equal treatment as nations regarding social security, dependent on fulfilling the legislated requirements, or the reimbursement of contributions made;
- Article 28: The right to urgent medical care for migrant workers and their families;
- Article 30: The right to basic education for the children of migrant workers;
- Article 43: Equal treatment of migrant workers and nationals regarding access to educational institutions, social housing schemes, and social and health services;
- Article 45: Equal treatment of migrant workers' family member and nationals regarding access to educational institutions, social housing schemes, and social and health services;
- Article 54: Equal treatment of migrant workers and national regarding unemployment benefits

None of the SADC member states were among the original 20 ratifying states when the Convention came into force in 2003, nor have any signed the Convention as a move toward ratification.

Concerning social protection in general, including for citizens and non-citizens, article 22 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights of 1948 states that "everyone, as a member of society, has the right to social security". Article 9 of the 1966 International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights refers to "the right of everyone to social security, including social insurance". South Africa has signed but not ratified this Covenant, and Botswana has ratified it. In addition, many international conferences and the United Nations Millennium Declaration (2000) adopted by the General Assembly have reaffirmed the right to social protection.<sup>30</sup>

Table 6 gives an overview of... <<pre>cyput table into context>>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Article 4 provides that 'Aliens shall observe the laws of the State in which they reside or are present and regard with respect the customs and traditions of the people of that State.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> García, A. B. and J. V. Gruat (2003). Social Protection: A Life Cycle Continuum Investment for Social Justice, Poverty Reduction and Sustainable Development Geneva, International Labour Office.

 Table 6: SADC member states accession to International Legal Instruments and

 Reservations

Country	1951/67 UN Convention/ Protocol
Angola	1981 (reservations 7, 8, 9, 13, 15, 17, 18, 24, 26)
Botswana	1969 (reservations 7, 17, 26, 31, 32, 34)
DRC	1965/1975
Lesotho	1981
Madagascar	1967 (Convention only, servations 7, 8, 9, 17)
Malawi	1987 (reservations 7, 13, 15, 17, 19, 22, 24, 26, 34)
Mauritius	Not acceded
Mozambique	1983/1989 (reservations 13, 15, 17, 19, 22, 26, 34)
Namibia	1995 (Convention only, reservation 26)
South Africa	1996
Swaziland	2000/1969 (reservations 22, 34)
Tanzania	1964/1968 (reservation 4)
Zambia	1969 (reservations 17, 22, 26, 28)
Zimbabwe	1981 (reservations 17, 22, 23, 24, 26)

## 4.2. Regional

There are two levels of regional instruments: one at the continental level, represented institutionally by the Organization of African Unity/African Union, and one at the Southern African level, represented by SADC.

The OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa is a key instrument governing refugee protection in Africa, but it does not, in contrast to the 1951 UN Convention described above, include any provisions relating to social protection. This reflects one of the key differences between European and African refugee protection and social protection for R&AS, namely that most African host states do not have comprehensive social protection systems for their own citizens, and therefore cannot commit to providing them for refugees.

At the SADC level, there are two kinds of provisions, which would impact on the SP of R&AS. The first would relate to a regional agreement on the treatment of all refugees, irrespective of their country of origin, while the second would relate to agreements concerning the treatment of citizens of SADC member states in general, which would also apply if some of those citizens became refugees in another SADC member state. With regard to the first, there is no refugee-specific protocol or harmonization policy in place. The only provision is a very general article (28) within the recently ratified SADC Protocol on the Facilitated Movement of Persons (2005), which merely states that member states 'reaffirm their commitment to their obligations under international agreements to which they are parties, and which relate to refugees' and that 'the management of refugees in the Region shall be regulated by a specific Memorandum of

Understanding (MOU) between State Parties.' Such an MOU has not yet been drafted, but would have a relatively weak legal purchase.

Significantly, the Protocol also does not provide for any SP rights for citizens of SADC member states while they are in other SADC states. In the absence of other regional mechanisms focusing explicitly on social protection, this suggests that SADC member states are not yet ready to put in place cross-border SP mechanisms for their own citizens, let alone refugees from other regions.

The 2003 SADC Social Charter is another instrument, which deals with social security. As stated in Article 2.1 e, one of its main aims is to "promote the establishment and harmonization of social security schemes." The Charter is explicitly targeted at workers, and makes no mention of asylum seekers or refugees. Article 10 expresses the member state's commitments to social protection broadly (see Box 3 below).

#### Box 3: 2003 SADC Social Charter

#### **Article 10: Social Protection**

1. Member States shall create an enabling environment so that every worker in the region shall have a right to adequate social protection and shall, regardless of status and the type of employment, enjoy adequate social security benefits.

2. Persons who have been unable to either enter or re-enter the labor market and have no means of subsistence shall be entitled to receive sufficient resources and social assistance.

## 4.3. Bilateral

Bilateral treaties relating to refugee protection are relatively rare and concern mainly repatriation and resettlement arrangements, or are part of a peace treaty between two countries or two warring factions. Other kinds of bilateral agreement, such as extradition arrangements, can be used in relation to refugee protection, as described below, but these relate more to civil and political rights, such as the right to a fair trial, than to social rights and social protection. Bilateral arrangements in relation to the transferability of social protection (such as pensions) are more common, but they generally relate to migrant workers rather than refugees. This is almost by definition the case, as discussed in Section 2 above, since countries currently producing refugees are either unlikely to be able to uphold an agreement due to internal conflict, or would be unwilling to honor an agreement in relation to individuals who have fled from the state.

Both Botswana and South Africa have had cases where refugees or asylum seekers were faced with a request for extradition. In 1969 Botswana signed an extradition treaty with South Africa. To ensure that Botswana maintained its international obligations to protect refugees Botswana ensured that the treaty had provisions to protect refugees. The treaty provided that "extradition may be refused if the offence in respect of which it is requested

is regarded by the requested party as a political offence or as an offence connected with a political offence."<sup>31</sup> There is no record of a political refugee who was extradited under this agreement. When Namibia acquired majority government Botswana entered into a similar treaty with them.

Botswana is presently hosting Namibian refugees who are reported to have engaged in violent activities in Caprivi. These were denied refugee recognition by Botswana government but are persons of concern to UNHCR. They have therefore been allowed to stay in the country and UNHCR has been mandated to find them a country of resettlement. Requests by the Namibian Government to extradite these Namibians were turned down. The matter was taken to court and a ruling was passed in favor of the humanitarian community who argued that their acts were a result of discrimination based on political grounds and thus qualified them for protection.

Similarly, South Africa has bilateral extradition agreements with many countries. In a 2005 case, an extradition request for a Libyan national who was in South Africa claiming asylum was delayed, but on the basis of the lack of a bilateral extradition treaty rather than with reference to his asylum status.<sup>32</sup>

South Africa also has a series of recent bilateral treaties which deal directly with social protection issues (see Table 7). It was not possible to gain information on the exact content of these treaties.

Country	Year	Treaty
Angola	2005	Agreement of Cooperation in the Field of Social
		Protection and Re-Integration
Cuba	2004	Agreement on Cooperation in the Fields of Employment,
		Social Security and Occupational Health and Safety
DRC	2006	Memorandum of Understanding on Co-operation in the
		Area of Social Development
Mauritius	2006	Memorandum of Understanding on Co-operation in the
		Field of Social Development
Mozambique	2003	Cooperation Agreement in the fields of Migratory Labor,
		Job Creation, Training, Studies and Research,
		Employment Statistics, Social Dialogue and Social
		Security
Namibia	1994	Agreement regarding payment from 1.3.1994 of benefits in
		terms of the Unemployment Insurance Act, 1966 (Act 30
		of 1966) to Walvis Bay contributors

#### Table 7 South African bilateral treaties relating to social protection

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Polhemus, J. H. (1985). "The refugee factor in Botswana." <u>Immigrants and Minorities</u> 4(1): 31.
 <sup>32</sup> News24.com, 28 November 2005, <u>http://www.news24.com/News24/South\_Africa/News/0,,2-7-1442\_1841806,00.html</u>

Netherlands	1997	Memorandum of Understanding in the Field of Social Welfare
Netherlands	2001	Agreement on Social Security
Russian Federation	1994	Joint Statement on Social and Labor Co-operation
Zambia	1996	General Agreement on Cooperation in the Economic, Social, Scientific, Technical and Cultural Fields
Zambia	2005	Agreement on the Establishment of a Commission for the Operation of the 1996 General Agreement on Cooperation in the Economic, Social, Scientific, Technical and Cultural Fields

## 4.4. National

#### 4.4.1. Botswana

Botswana's domestic refugee legislation is inconsistent with the country's international obligations, is focused on national security concerns, and is therefore silent on social protection issues. Despite the Government being a signatory to several international and regional conventions, protocols and agreements, the 1967 Refugee Recognition and Control Act has not been amended to incorporate the OAU Refugee Convention or the more general Human Rights conventions to which Botswana is party. The Act stipulates the processes required for documenting asylum seekers and the establishment of a Refugee Advisory Council and its functions. By excluding any mention of welfare provision, apart from stating that refugees have the same rights to work as visitors (Section 14), it assumes that support for refugees will be the responsibility of the international community. The general public welfare provisions available to citizens of Botswana are only partly accessible to refugees and on an ad hoc basis. For example, with the introduction of free primary education, the small number of refugees who remained in the area of the Dukwi refugee camp was granted access to the public education system after years of receiving parallel schooling provision in the camp.

There is no legislated basis for the provision of assistance to refugees and asylum seekers, thus public assistance is rendered through Presidential or Ministerial directives. The directives authorize measures for social protection to be provided on a case-by-case basis.

While there is no specific provision in the Refugees Recognition and Control Act for the detention of asylum seekers and refugees before or after their status determination (apart from where they are 'liable to be removed from Botswana under the Immigration Act'), this has, as noted above, become the standard process for the accommodation of R&AS, which impacts on the implementation of SP, as discussed below.

#### 4.4.2. South Africa

In contrast to Botswana, South Africa's domestic legal framework provides for extensive social protection rights for R&AS. South Africa's legal framework for refugee protection has changed radically in recent years, moving from no domestic refugee protection law to the 1998 Refugee Act, which is recognized as one of the most progressive pieces of refugee legislation in the world and which is in line with the provisions of both the 1951 UN Convention and the 1969 OAU Convention. Refugees are entitled to virtually the same rights as citizens, apart from the right to vote, while asylum seekers enjoy wide-ranging rights including the right to basic health services, basic education for children, work and study. Whereas in Botswana the expectation is that most welfare services will be provided by international non-governmental actors, in South Africa, the expectation is that most refugees, just like citizens, will be able to claim access to public services individually and procure other services through working.

The Refugee Act must also be interpreted in the context of the South African Constitution, which guarantees extensive rights, including socio-economic rights, to 'everyone' resident in South Africa, regardless of citizenship or even legal status, therefore also applying to asylum seekers and refugees. The socio-economic rights include basic health care and basic education, as well as the right to adequate housing, sufficient food and water and social security, including, if they are unable to support themselves and their dependants, appropriate social assistance. Some of these rights, such as housing, are qualified by the need to be 'progressively implemented' by the state, while others, such as access to basic and emergency health care, are absolute. Because these rights are enshrined in the Constitution, the government (rather than the 'international community' or NGOs) becomes responsible for the effective provision of social protection to R&AS along with, rather than separate from, social protection for citizens. This also underpins the general policy of self-settled, urban integration for refugees and asylum seekers, which, as with the camp-based strategy in Botswana, affects all aspects of the implementation of SP.

Other national legislation, which impacts on the provision of SP to R&AS, includes the Social Assistance Act (2004), the Schools Act (1996), and the Children's Act (2007). While most of the social welfare grants provided through the Social Assistance Act are explicitly restricted to citizens and permanent residents (including the old age pension, the child support grant, and the war veterans grant), <sup>33</sup> some are not restricted or have recently been granted to refugees. The Foster Care Grant, which goes to families officially fostering children, is open to foster parents of any formal legal status, including recognized refugees. After years of administrative delays, since May 2006 the Department of Social Development has been processing the foster care grant applications of refugee parents who are caring for unaccompanied children.<sup>34</sup> The Social Relief of Distress grant is a short-term grant (usually no more than three months) available to the destitute and is often disbursed in the form of food parcels. It has no legal status

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Khosa and Others v Minister of Social Development and Others; Mahlaule and Another v Minister of Social Development and Others CCT12/03; CCT13/03

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Bishogo, C. and Two Others vs. Minister of Social Development and Four Others, Case No. 9841/05, High Court of South Africa, Transvaal Provincial Division, Consent Order, September 2005.

restriction and does not even require possession of an identity document (ID) and so could, theoretically, even be available to as yet undocumented asylum seekers. In practice, however, as discussed further below, this grant is almost never used to assist R&AS.

In a significant increase of social protection options for a particularly vulnerable group of refugees, eligibility for the Disability Grant was granted to recognized refugees through a legal challenge. In October 2006 the Department of Social Development filed a Social Assistance Plan for Refugees in response to a case by Lawyers for Human Rights.<sup>35</sup> The Plan provides that disabled refugees will receive disability grants to the same value as social grants received by South African citizens and stipulates that the Government make access to disability grants generally available for all disabled refugees within eight months, e.g. by the middle of 2007.

The Disability Grant case illustrates how, in contrast to Botswana, the rights-based South African legal framework can be used to claim greater SP rights for R&AS through the courts. This has also occurred in relation to the rights to work and study, which were restricted for asylum seekers until 2004.<sup>36</sup>

Regarding the right to education, the South African Schools Act states that "no child may be prevented from going to school because their fees cannot be paid" (Section 5(3)(a)) and that school admission cannot be unfairly discriminating in any way. Section 19 of the South African Schools Act explicitly states that the Act applies equally to learners who are not citizens of South Africa and whose parents hold temporary or permanent residence permits.<sup>37</sup> In relation to children's rights more broadly, a 2004 Pretoria High Court found that the protections for children enshrined in the constitution and the Child Care Act should equally apply to foreign children. In spite of this ruling and other civil society advocacy campaigns, the 2007 The Children's Act contains no explicit provision for unaccompanied foreign children.

Moreover, regulations and directives from various government departments can also have significant impacts on the access of R&AS to SP. A recent example is a directive by the Department of Health to all its hospitals and clinics to provide antiretroviral treatment (ART) to Refugees and Asylum Seekers, whether they hold documentation or not.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Scalabrini Centre of Cape Town and Five Others vs. The Minister of Social Development, the Minister of Finance, the Minister of Home Affairs and Another, Case No. 32054/2005, Notice of Motion, High Court of South Africa, Transvaal Provincial Division, 19 September 2005. http://www.lhr.org.za/projects/litigation/cases.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Minister of Home Affairs and Others v Watchenuka and Another 2004 (4) SA 326 (SCA) (28 November 2003), <u>http://www.lhr.org.za/projects/refugee/judgements.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Stone, L. and S. Winterstein (2003). A Right or a Privilege? Access to Basic Education for Refugee and Asylum-Seeker Children in South Africa. Pretoria, National Consortium for Refugee Affairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Department of Health (2007). Revenue Directive - Refugees / Asylum Seekers with or without a permit, BI 4/29 REFUG/ASYL 8 2007, 19 September 2007.

# Institutional Frameworks for the Provision of Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Botswana and South Africa

This section reviews the institutional arrangements in Botswana and South Africa for providing SP to refugees, which includes those institutions, which provide status and documentation as well as those, which provide the actual welfare services. The nature of these institutions is very different in Botswana and South Africa, reflecting the broader differences between control- and rights-based legal frameworks and between campsbased and self-settled reception strategies.

#### 4.5. Botswana

Refugee matters in Botswana are administered under the Office of the President (OP). As Matlou notes, "the refugee policy process takes place at the highest echelons of Government. Speedy actions (are) undertaken without seeking permission from other Government offices."<sup>39</sup> The OP coordinates refugee issues by chairing the Botswana Council of Refugees Executive Council (while it still existed), being a member of the Refugee Advisory Council, overseeing the running of the Dukwi refugee settlement through the Settlement Commandant, and authorizing issuance of all refugee documents and change of status. Therefore, all policy decisions pertaining to the social protection of refugees are controlled and authorized by the OP. The location of refugee affairs within the OP, which is responsible for security, exemplifies Botswana's policy position on refugees as a state security rather than a rights-based issue. For example, the costs incurred by the Botswana Government for running services in Dukwi refugee camp remain a security matter and have not been disclosed by the government.<sup>40</sup>

The Ministry carries out status determination interviews, with advice from the Refugee Advisory Council (RAC). Asylum seekers used to be detained in prisons while awaiting screening for status determination, while today they are kept in the Francistown Detention Centre for Illegal Immigrants pending the outcome of their asylum applications. At the beginning of 2005, the government announced in Parliament that it is planning to build a second centre at Molepolole to be operational by 2006.

Other government departments related to SP for refugees include the Ministry of Home Affairs, which assists refugees with issues pertaining to citizenship, temporary residence permits, and labor. The Ministry of Local Government administers issues pertaining to social welfare for citizens but refugees and asylum seekers are excluded. Therefore, social protection issues of refugees and asylum seekers are today attended to by NGOs. The main NGOs providing these services have been the Botswana Council of Churches (BCC), the Lutheran World Federation (LWF), and the Botswana Refugee Council.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Matlou, P. M. (1992). Botswana: The Linkage Between State Security and Refugee Policy. **Phd**. p. 60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> These services include a primary school, a clinic, a police station, the Settlement Commandant's office, and the provision of electricity, water and petrol.

The UNHCR's role in the country is to support the government in providing protection to refugees, which it carries out mainly through providing financial support to non-governmental implementing partners (as listed above). Because of significant repatriations of Angolans and Namibians from Botswana in 2006 and 2007, the UNHCR is planning to hand over operations to its implementing partners entirely and eventually exit Botswana.<sup>41</sup>

The provision of welfare services to refugees in Botswana has changed over time. Prior to Botswana acquiring independence, refugees and asylum seekers were assisted by individual churches<sup>42</sup> and by the Botswana traditional chiefs or leaders.<sup>43</sup> In the 1970s, with the escalation of refugee flows to over 35,000, Botswana appealed for both humanitarian support and financial assistance.<sup>44</sup> Responding to the appeal, organizations like the United UNHCR,<sup>45</sup> the Lutheran World Federation (LWF), the African American Institute (AAI), the Otto Benecke Stiftung (OBS), the World Food Programme, Oxfam, the International University Exchange Fund, and the International Committee for the Red Cross opened offices in Botswana and provided the social services support. The Botswana Council for Refugees (BCR) was established in 1975 as an implementing agent of UNHCR, LWF and the World Council of Churches (WCC). BCR was mandated to provide counseling and social welfare assistance as well as facilitating the reception, protection support, settlement, resettlement and repatriation of refugees mainly from Angola, Namibia, South Africa, and Zimbabwe. In terms of welfare, the BCR provided counseling services, facilities for training, education, and medical care as well as food, clothing, accommodation, settling in grants, and subsistence allowances. It also provided services for family reunification, legal representation, documentation, burials, hospital and prison visits.

Most of the international organizations withdrew again when the refugee caseload decreased in the early 1990s. As funding partners pulled out, the BCR increasingly became dependent on UNHCR funding and reduced its staff and activities. The Botswana Council for Refugees was closed, on recommendation from the UNHCR. Since then, welfare services have declined and the refugees remaining in the country have to wait for several months to years awaiting assistance.

#### 4.6. South Africa

In South Africa, the Department of Home Affairs is responsible for determining refugee status and providing the relevant documentation for asylum seekers and recognized refugees. This is done at five Refugee Reception Offices in the main urban areas (Johannesburg, Pretoria, Cape Town, Durban and Port Elisabeth). Since South Africa has a self-settlement and urban integration policy regarding R&SA, there is no specified area

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> UNHCR (2006). Country Operations Plan Botswana - Overview.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The Anglican Church and Catholic church were extremely active in assisting refugees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Matlou, P. M. (1992). Botswana: The Linkage Between State Security and Refugee Policy. **Phd**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Botswana at the time did not have qualified professionals to deal with such huge influxes of traumatized persons.

persons. <sup>45</sup> Polhemus, J. H. (1985). "The refugee factor in Botswana." <u>Immigrants and Minorities</u> **4**(1): 31.

or place in which R&AS are required to live, and so social protection services also have to be provided in a dispersed and decentralized way.

Most basic rights to welfare services are guaranteed through the Constitution and the Refugees Act, and it is therefore the primary responsibility of the various government departments to provide the respective services in this decentralized fashion. This includes the Departments of Health, Education, Social Development, Labor and Housing. In practice, as discussed below, this is often not fully implemented. Apart from national departments and their local outlets (e.g. clinics and schools), local governments are increasingly starting to develop their own mechanisms and programs for social protection for R&AS. This is especially the case for the large metropolitan municipalities, for example Johannesburg established a migrant help desk, which provides wide-ranging advice to foreigners on how to access basic services in the city, and Cape Town drafted its own refugee policy.

As in Botswana, the non-governmental provision of welfare services has changed over time, including important contributions (to this day) from rural traditional leadership (especially in the cases of Mozambican refugees in the 1980s and Zimbabwean migrants today) and churches. However, the large-scale international refugee welfare NGOs have never been active in the country, or only to a limited extent. This is due to a combination of reasons, namely South Africa's pre-1994 isolation from the UN and the international community, its post-1994 position as a semi-developed, rather than poor, country, its well-developed indigenous civil society and the lack of a sudden and large-scale influx of refugees which would have constituted a clear 'disaster' in need of humanitarian intervention (at least until the current Zimbabwean crisis). Currently, international NGOs such as the Jesuit Refugee Services and the Mennonite Central Committee provide some direct welfare assistance with housing, food, counseling and advice, but these services only reach a small minority of the total number of R&AS' in South Africa.<sup>46</sup>

In addition to such NGO welfare service providers, some of whom are UNHCR implementing partners as in Botswana, there is also a strong independent civil society, which monitors government services to refugees. This includes legal NGOs (notably Lawyers for Human Rights) and several University law clinics (University of the Witwatersrand and University of Cape Town), which have refugee and migrant rights programs. These legal organizations have carried out strategic litigation which has expanded R&AS rights, for example by granting asylum seekers the right to work and study and access to disability grants, as described above. Other organizations such as the Consortium for Refugee and Migrant Affairs in South Africa (CoRMSA) and the Wits University Forced Migration Studies Program focus on monitoring government service provision and social protection.<sup>47</sup> Government institutions such as the South African

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Because of the self-settled nature of R&AS in South Africa, there are also no clear statistics on the numbers in any particular city in South Africa, making it difficult to estimate the percentage of the total who are receiving such direct NGO welfare services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The Forced Migration Studies Programme of the University of the Witwatersrand, for example, has a Migrant Rights Monitoring Project which systematically documents the extent to which the South African government is fulfilling R&AS basic rights, including rights in relation to documentation, arrest and detention, education, health care, social welfare, employment and housing. This information is then

Human Rights Commission (SAHRC) have a mandate to monitor refugee rights as well, but have not been fulfilling this mandate effectively.<sup>48</sup>

# 5. Implementation of Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Botswana and South Africa

#### 5.1. Botswana

The provision of different kinds of SP for R&AS in Botswana is a function of the campbased policy, the ad hoc legal and institutional framework, and the dependence on externally funded NGOs. When the caseload of refugees declined dramatically in the 1990s, the main international NGOs pulled out of the country, and the BCR lost much of its funding and ended most of the services described below. Nevertheless, it is important to assess these measures—even if currently not provided—to better address future needs and measures.

#### 5.1.1. Freedom of Movement

Asylum seekers do not have freedom of movement in Botswana. In the past, the restriction of movement was not strictly enforced, especially when there were larger numbers of asylum seekers in the 1970s and 80s. However, when overall security systems were strengthened in Botswana in the aftermath of the 2001 terror attacks on the USA, the practice was reintroduced and asylum seekers were again restricted to a detention centre to await Refugee Advisory Committee (RAC) interviews. Those who are granted refugee status are released and those who are rejected are detained until UNHCR secures them a country for resettlement or they are repatriated to their countries of origin. It has recently been reported that some asylum seekers have been in the detention camp for over five years. When the policy of detaining asylum seekers was first enforced, women and children were also detained. This practice has since been amended to allow women and children to await RAC interviews in Dukwi refugee camp.

#### 5.1.2. Documentation

Recognized refugees are provided with refugee identity cards. Asylum seekers are not entitled to any documentation, apart from the exit permits issued by the Dukwi Settlement Commandant. Refugees and asylum seekers are required to register births and deaths and in return are issued with the relevant documents.

provided to interested civil society organisations to support advocacy efforts to improve service provision. See <u>www.migration.org.za</u> for more information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.

#### 5.1.3. Employment

Although Botswana made reservations with regard to the article on employment when acceding to the 1951 UN convention, skilled refugees whose services are required in the labor market can acquire the necessary documentation for employment. While the BCR was operational, refugees were assisted by BCR to secure employment, but after BRC's closure employment seems to be a grey area and refugees wait long periods to have their documents renewed or new documents issued.

Recognized refugees were provided with all the necessary documentation such as work permits, special residence permits, references, and recommendation letters. However as in the case of Tanzania, an employer is required to prove that he or she failed to get a qualified local person to do the work. It is only then that a refugee can be issued with a temporary work permit. Those who cannot secure wage employment are encouraged to engage in self-employment. In Botswana refugees who opt for self-employment are assisted to acquire the necessary documentations (registration of their businesses, self employment work permits, residence permits), issued with loans and grants<sup>49</sup> (depending on the type of business) and assisted to secure markets for their produce.

Should need arise, recognized refugees were assisted to have their certificates translated. In cases were certificates were lost or they were not able to bring them along, special arrangements were made by BCR to have them tested and certified. In some cases, church organizations were asked to help in securing their certificates from their countries of origin through their sister churches in those countries.

Some of their businesses have been extremely successful. Typical examples are businesses related to taxi services, garages, horticulture, poultry, fisheries, construction, textile, knitting, and carpentry. Asylum seekers awaiting status determination and those whose applications are rejected by the government are restricted to operating incomegenerating projects inside the refugee camp. Nevertheless, they are assisted by the camp authorities to market their products outside the camp.

#### 5.1.4. Education

Education is a basic human right and refugee children, youth and adults are assisted to acquire placements in primary, secondary and tertiary institutions subject to availability of funds. In Botswana refugee children are assisted to secure school placements regardless of their parents' refugee status. Children of primary schooling age are schooled at the refugee camp. Those of secondary level are either educated in the Education Resource Centre at the camp or in schools outside the camp which have boarding facilities. Their clothing, school uniforms, toiletries and travel costs are paid for by UNHCR. Students with language problems are assisted to acquire language lessons as part of the integration program, subject to availability of funds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> these were funds from the international community used as revolving funds

In the past, refugee students—mostly South Africans and Namibians—were offered scholarships to study in Germany, Kenya, or the United States, due to limitations of tertiary placements in Botswana. Nigeria was the only African country to offer scholarships for South African refugees in Botswana.

#### 5.1.5. Health

Health is a basic human right and public medical treatment is free in Botswana. The government runs a refugee clinic at Dukwi camps, which is adequately equipped with facilities, staff, medicines and medical supplies. Patients requiring urgent referral are transported to the District and National Hospitals. In some cases, through the assistance of UNHCR and the government, refugees have been medically evacuated or sent for treatment to neighboring countries, which were not their countries of origin. For example, there have been cases where specialized plastic surgery was performed to help scarred refugees restore their dignity and lived normal lives.

Refugees are currently not provided with Anti Retroviral Treatment (ART) for HIV/AIDS. A government official justified this with reference to the UNHCR's failure to commit itself to continue the treatment after recipients had been repatriated. ART protocols stipulate that it would be better for such cases to be debarred from the treatment if it could not be sustained. This is the practice in spite of pressure from the United States government, which is funding a large portion of the HIV program in Botswana, to extend refugees in the ART program. Since 2004 the Roman Catholic Church in Francistown has filled the gap by offering assistance to refugees and foreigners requiring treatment for HIV/AIDS.<sup>50</sup>

#### 5.1.6. Safe Drinking Water

Since refugees are sequestered in a camp and Botswana is a dry country, the issue of safe drinking water is a service, which must be guaranteed by the government. Water supplied to Dukwi is taken from boreholes and treated before being piped to the refugee camp. The refugees get their water from standpipes. The cost of providing water is borne by the government.

#### 5.1.7. Shelter/Housing

In Dukwi refugees and asylum seekers are allocated basic shelter (two roomed brick houses). These houses of the same standard as those provided to poor Botswana or lowincome earners or domestic workers living in residence. Those refugees in urban areas are provided with housing allowances to pay for their house rentals. In the past refugees resident in Dukwi were provided with temporary accommodation in town to attend to appointments for medical or official reasons, family reunification, interviews for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> PlusNews (2007). The effect of migration on HIV rates <u>IRIN</u>. Francistown. **13 September** 

employment and school placements. With the reduction of the refugee caseload, this service was stopped and refugees and asylum seekers are now required to look for their own accommodation at their own expense.

#### 5.1.8. Right to own property

Refugees in Botswana are allowed to own property. When they repatriate they are free to transport their goods. However, the repatriation agreement determines the quantity and type of movable asserts refugees are allowed to transport to their countries of origin. In some cases refugees were assisted by BCR to secure property such as land to build themselves houses or farms as a way of normalizing their lives.

#### 5.1.9. Unaccompanied Minors

The authorities in Botswana established special programs to assist refugee children who came from Zimbabwe and South Africa in the 1970s and 80s. In most cases, these children were taken to foster homes run by the Young Women's Christian Association (YWCA); others were sent to Dukwi. Adult refugees from their countries of origin were identified to look after them whilst efforts to unify them with their parents were made. Through bilateral negotiations with the assistance of UNHCR, parents of Zimbabwean children came to visit their children and some opted to repatriate. But this arrangement was not extended to the South African children while the country was still governed by the apartheid regime.

## 5.2. South Africa<sup>51</sup>

In the South African case, the implementation of SP for R&AS within the self-settled model is largely dependent on the expectation of strong government institutions, which follow and respect the progressive laws of the country. While in theory this is a more stable basis for service provision than externally funded NGOs like in Botswana, such strength and consistency is often lacking in South Africa once evaluated in practice. Furthermore, non-governmental service providers have not adequately filled the resulting gaps in public service provision.

Some kinds of service provision are not as relevant in a self-settled context as in a campbased context. For example, while the provision of water to refugees is necessary in a camp, self-settled refugees use the same water provision as South African citizens wherever they are settled. Still, most services are relevant in both practices as the following part shows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Much of the information in this section is drawn from the most recent report by the Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa (CoRMSA), which outlines the state of refugee and migrant rights in the country. CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.

#### 5.2.1. Freedom of Movement

R&AS have complete freedom of movement within South Africa, as it is enshrined in the Constitution as a basic right. Freedom of movement is, moreover, the basis of the self-settlement policy with regard to R&AS. However, in practice, there are two issues that constrain true freedom of movement. First, asylum seekers who have not been able to access documentation (see below) are in danger of being arrested by the police as illegal immigrants, so that many express fear of moving freely in the streets until they have been able to secure documents. Second, as a related point, because asylum seekers have to renew their asylum seeker permits at least every three months (sometimes every month) at the same Refugee Reception Office where they made their original application, they must in practice remain in the vicinity of the respective RRO to avoid high travel costs.

#### 5.2.2. Documentation

In the South African self-settled context, documentation is a crucial pre-requisite to accessing any public welfare provisions such as health care and education, as well as formal employment or housing. It is also one of the greatest implementation challenges currently facing the South African asylum system.

If an asylum seeker declares his or her intention to apply for asylum when entering South Africa through an official port of entry, they are entitled to a 'Section 23' transit permit,<sup>52</sup> which gives them 14 days leave to remain in the country, in which time they are intended to travel to a Refugee Reception Office and lodge a formal asylum claim. Once asylum seekers have presented themselves to the Department of Home Affairs and lodged a claim, they are entitled to an asylum seeker permit, known as a Section 22 permit. Recognized refugees receive a Section 24 permit and may then apply for a Refugee ID, which resembles a South African citizenship or permanent resident ID, apart from having a maroon rather than a green cover. Refugees may also apply for travel documents.

In practice, there are a series of difficulties with the implementation of the documentation system. First, not all asylum seekers declare themselves at a point of entry and most therefore do not receive a Section 23 transit permit. This means that many asylum seekers are undocumented, and therefore vulnerable to arrest and deportation, until they can access a Refugee Reception Office. Second, access to the RROs has for many years been problematic, with long queues and days to months of waiting until an asylum seeker can even enter the RRO building. During this waiting period, the asylum seekers again remain undocumented and vulnerable. Third, high levels of corruption in the access process have been well documented.<sup>53</sup> Fourth, once the asylum seeker has received a Section 22 permit, these must be renewed regularly, as noted above, requiring renewed waiting and often bribes. Delays in the processing of claims, currently at least a backlog of 80,000 cases, mean that asylum status can last for many years rather than the maximum of 180 days foreseen in the Refugees Act. The Department of Home Affairs is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> The 'Section' titles of the permits refer to the relevant sections of the 1998 Refugees Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.

aware of these issues and has instituted a 'turn-around strategy', yet it remains to be seen to what extent this will bear fruit.

Finally, even when R&AS have the relevant documentation, there are still many actors, public and private, which do not recognize them or do not understand that they confer rights to services. Employers often do not know that the asylum seeker permit includes the right to work, or are concerned about the three-month duration of the permit. There are regular reports of hospitals refusing emergency treatment or demanding high 'foreign' payments for people with asylum or refugee documents, because these documents are not recognized. Government databases, which manage applications for public housing, do not recognize refugee ID numbers.<sup>54</sup>

#### 5.2.3. Employment

Both recognized asylum seeker and refugees have the right to work in South Africa, including taking up formal employment and self-employment. Labor legislation and minimum labor standards are applicable to all legally employed workers in the country, including non-nationals. As a state party to the International Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (ICERD), South Africa has committed itself to ensuring that employers must pay the prescribed minimum wages and incur responsibility for work-related injuries of even undocumented workers, including those whom the government seeks to deport.<sup>55</sup> In spite of this strong legal framework, there are many practical barriers for refugees and asylum seekers searching for employment.

Access to employment for professional refugees and asylum seekers is limited by the long waiting periods for documentation, difficulties in certifying foreign qualifications, affirmative action policies which are interpreted to only include 'previous disadvantaged' South African citizens, and xenophobic attitudes from employers. Even those asylum seekers and refugees who posses skills which are in short supply in South Africa, such as in health care, education, engineering, and IT,<sup>56</sup> face difficulties in finding jobs for which they are qualified.

Because of the difficulty of securing formal employment, many asylum seekers and refugees have taken up work in the informal sector. The insecurities inherent in the informal sector affect citizens and non-citizens alike, such as exploitation by employers or the need for trustworthy supply networks, but there are regular reports that refugees and asylum seekers face additional challenges, such as victimization by police and difficulties in accessing street trading and business permits.

In the experience of South Africa, programs intended to improve conditions in formerly informal sectors have had unintended negative impacts on foreigners. Recently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> National Consortium of Refugee Affairs (2006). Summary of Key Findings: Refugee Protection in South Africa. Pretoria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Human Rights Watch (2007). 'Keep your head down'; Unprotected Migrants in South Africa.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Manuel, T. (2006). "Speech delivered by the Minister of Finance, Mr Trevor A Manuel, MP, at the Institute of Personnel Management." Retrieved 29 May 2006, from

http://www.info.gov.za/speeches/2006/06101114151003.htm.

formalized sectors include the security industry, street trading, the hospitality industry and farm work, all of which are common employment areas for R&AS. As noted above, refugees and asylum seekers often work in informal employment sectors because they face difficulties accessing formal employment. As soon as these sectors become more formalized, they require formal identity documentation or permits particular to the industry, which are difficult for refugees and asylum seekers to access.

Employment formalization may mean that non-citizens working in these sectors loose their jobs or that new entrants may find it more difficult to find jobs in the sector. This is especially the case for as yet undocumented asylum seekers, but also includes legally working refugees and asylum seekers whose documents may not be recognized as legitimate by employers. Alternatively, refugees and asylum seekers are pushed into the most marginal jobs or parts of the employment sectors, often with employers who try to circumvent or ignore the new formal minimum standards. Some sectors, specifically the security industry, are explicitly discriminatory. The Private Security Industry Regulatory Authority (PSIRA) has recently enforced the requirement that only citizens or permanent residents can access the obligatory registration process for all security-related jobs.<sup>57</sup> Since c. 25% of asylum seekers and refugees previously worked in the security sector, this has had a significant impact on their livelihoods.<sup>58</sup>

#### 5.2.4. Work-related benefits

South African law does not specifically exclude refugees from unemployment insurance, but many do not obtain payments even after having made contributions to the fund.<sup>59</sup>

As a member of the International Labor Organization (ILO), South Africa has obligations to comply with the organization's aims regarding the provision of "decent work" and has a duty to comply with the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work (ILO Declaration). This includes giving "special attention to the problems of persons with special social needs, particularly the unemployed and migrant workers," and lists the elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and occupation as one of the "fundamental rights," which all ILO members have an obligation to protect. Provision of appropriate remedies for work-related accidents and disability are among the standard conditions of 'decent work.'

#### 5.2.5. Education

R&AS children attend the mainstream public schooling system in South Africa and have the same rights to participate in school programs such as feeding schemes or school fee exemptions as South African children. While in the past, some schools did not recognize

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Lawyers for Human Rights has challenged the explicit exclusion of non-citizens and specifically refugees from the security industry in court since 2003, but the case remains pending. *Shabani Midemis Rutimba and Others vs. Director: Private Security Industry Regulatory Authority and Others*, Applicants' Replying Affidavit, Case. No.35986/03, High Court of South Africa, Transvaal Provincial Division, 22 June 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> FMSP (2003). Human Displacement, Survival and the Politics of Space: Joburg Study Final Results, Forced Migration Studies Programme, University of the Witwatersrand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). World Refugee Survey.

the documentation of R&AS or did not grant the children of refugees fee exemptions if they were unable to pay, such discrimination has recently improved in the main urban areas, as reported by various NGOs.<sup>60</sup> Nonetheless, a significant proportion of refugee children are not in school, with parents often not being aware of the possibility of a fee exemption or not being able to cover the additional costs of uniforms and transport.

Some schools with large numbers of refugee children offer additional language classes in home country languages (usually French), but this is at the discretion of the school or is done with the support of NGOs such as the Refugee Children's Project (RCP) in Johannesburg or the Durban Refugee Service Providers Network in Durban.

Pre-school education such as crèche and Grade R are not considered part of the legally mandated 'basic education' and are not subsidized by the state. Tertiary education is also not considered part of basic education and access is therefore not a right, but refugees and asylum seekers are allowed to study. In both cases, the main access difficulty faced by R&AS is financial, mirroring the access problems faced by citizens. There are a very small number of university scholarships offered to refugees by UNHCR in South Africa.

#### 5.2.6. Health

As with other basic social protection services, R&AS in South Africa access health care through the mainstream public health care system of clinics and hospitals. The challenges of accessing health care services in practices therefore combine general access problems experienced by poor or marginal South Africans, such as understaffing, lack of medication and long waiting times, with those particular to R&AS.

The lack of identity documents for newly arrived asylum seekers who have not been able to access the asylum process (as described above) limits their access to health care, while xenophobia within the health care system, especially by frontline administrative staff, affects both documented and undocumented R&AS. Refugees are formally exempt from higher hospital charges aimed at 'foreigners', but the current guidelines are ambiguous for asylum seekers. Finally, many refugees and asylum seekers are not aware of their rights to access basic health care and so do not seek it in time or prefer to use private or traditional health care providers.

#### 5.2.7. Shelter/Housing

Asylum seekers and refugees are in practice excluded from government-funded housing programs for vulnerable groups. This is mainly the case due to a lack of clarity in the housing codes, which distinguish between citizens and 'illegal immigrants' without specific mention of refugees or asylum seekers. This means that decisions regarding even documented migrants are made arbitrarily. This is the case for the National Housing Subsidy Scheme, the National Housing Programme for the Upgrading of Informal Settlements and the Emergency Housing Programme and subsidized rental of Council

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.

Housing.<sup>61</sup>

There is very little targeted non-governmental provision of housing for R&AS in South Africa, with the beds mainly available for women with children (who make up a small proportion of the mainly single male refugee population in the country) and only for short periods of time (3-6 months). There have been repeated reports that that some shelters set up for the homeless or abused South African women and children refuse to accept foreigners, independently of whether they have documentation or whether they are refugees or asylum seekers.

Accessing the private housing market in urban areas is also difficult for R&AS on several counts. Some challenges are shared with poor South Africans, including a dearth of low cost housing and high rents, while some are specific to foreigners, including xenophobia among landlords, landlords and housing agents who do not recognize asylum and refugee documents, and the lack of fall-back options if faced with eviction.

In practice, most R&AS therefore depend on private networks of family, friends and countrymen to find accommodation, often sharing and subletting overcrowded apartments.

## 5.2.8. Right to own property

The law allows refugees to own property and businesses and a few refugees own land and obtain bank loans. However, refugees and especially asylum seekers often encounter problems when banks do not recognize their identification documents, hindering them in opening accounts and accessing private or business loans.

## 5.2.9. Social Welfare Grants

The rights of non-citizens to social security in the form of state welfare grants have been slowly but steadily extended over the last few years. The experience of the 2004 case granting permanent residents access to social grants has been that implementation of such extensions has generally been smooth once technical problems concerning documentation have been addressed. Similarly, the rights of refugees to access Foster Care Grants were initially stalled due to problems with the ability of the database system to recognize refugee ID numbers. Such technical problems are now less likely to arise again when refugees apply for the newly granted disability grant. Now, implementation effectiveness will depend on the ability of refugees to access documentation from the Department of Home Affairs and on the streamlining of the foster care and disability grant systems in general, which are also severely backlogged for South African applications. NGOs have expressed the need for the government to consider making refugees eligible for child support grants and old age pensions from the state as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> For a detailed description of each of these subsidies, please refer to Housing Code: User-Friendly Guide available at http://www.housing.gov.za. Housing Code, Part 3, Chapter 2: "The Housing Subsidy Scheme – General Rules", Section 2.2: "Who is Eligible for a Housing Subsidy?", available at

http://www.housing.gov.za/Content/The%20Housing%20Code/Part%203/Part%203%20-%20Chapter%202.htm, accessed 21 May 2006.

While the options for refugees have been expanding, there are no sources of social assistance from the South African government for asylum seekers. The Department of Social Development has proposed a Refugee Relief Fund, which would provide short term relief to newly arrived asylum seekers as well as recognized refugees, yet the establishment of this fund has been stalled for many years. Even when the Refugee Relief Fund becomes functional, the short-term nature of this assistance is unlikely to address longer-term needs of recognized refugees.

The Social Relief of Distress Grant is currently not legally limited to citizens and permanent residents and so provides an option for assistance to destitute asylum seekers and refugees. On the initiative of the NGO Lawyers for Human Rights, Somali asylum seekers and refugees who had been displaced from their houses due to xenophobic violence were provided with this grant.<sup>62</sup> It remains to be seen whether this constitutes a precedent, which will be implemented more widely in future.

## 5.2.10. Unaccompanied Minors

Based on the law, if a foreign child is found in need of care they must be provided with a place of safety, their circumstances investigated by a social workers and an inquiry opened in the children's court. Despite these obligations, reports have found that in almost all cases, unaccompanied minors coming to South Africa face the risk of exploitation and receive almost no protection from the government.<sup>63</sup> Unaccompanied children often find it difficult to reach the urban-based Refugee Reception Offices and so remain in the rural border areas, where there are few resources and few organizations with appropriate knowledge to assist them. This means that the children remain without documentation and therefore are vulnerable to arrest and deportation (even though foreign children, including undocumented ones, should not, by law, be deported without an assessment by a social worker).

When children do manage to reach Home Affairs offices, there is a lack of clarity concerning whether Home Affairs or the Department of Social Development have responsibility for assisting them through the asylum application process. Social workers are often unwilling to deal with cases of foreign unaccompanied minors, especially in assisting them to receive documentation. This is especially difficult in cases where the child is close to 18 years old, since the Department looses authority when the children reaches the age of majority. Furthermore, unaccompanied children are seldom provided with emergency accommodation and must find accommodation through informal networks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> <u>http://www.lhr.org.za/projects/refugee/judgements.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.

# 6. Main Problems in Providing Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Botswana and South Africa

The two case studies provide very different legal and institutional contexts for the provision of social protection, leading to different kinds of challenges. While some of these challenges are specific to the histories of the countries and the region, others are general characteristics of the camp- or self-settlement-based reception strategies or of problems that concern all residents in the country.

The Botswanan case illustrates social protection issues common to countries, which treat refugee issues as essentially external and threatening to their citizenry. These include:

- The *lack of a domestic legal framework*, which grants and protects the social and economic rights of refugees and asylum seekers. Even where international instruments apply, they are less likely to be applied and enforced than domestic law, especially when they clash with domestic legal provisions.
- The *dependence on external agencies* and funding for the provision of basic social protection activities, including education and health care. While this may lead to good provision while these organizations are well funded, the provision is driven by external factors, such as funding, rather than by the rights of the individual R&AS. When funding declines, or when refugee numbers become too low to justify investment by external institutions, the rights of the remaining individual refugees are ignored.
- The *constraint of independent and informal social protection mechanisms* by R&AS themselves, due to restrictions on freedom of movement and work. Many studies have shown that refugees rarely depend entirely on goods and services provided by formal governmental or non-governmental institutions to fulfill their basic needs, and that informal mechanisms for social protection, including family and social networks and informal work, are crucial for survival.<sup>64</sup> The more free movement is restricted and informal work is constrained, the more difficult it is for refugees to fill the inevitable service gaps.

As a result of all these factors, and due to the assumption that refugees and asylum seekers pose a threat rather than an opportunity for the host country, the twin bases for social protection are undermined: that social protection is a human right and that it is also a relationship of mutual benefit between the state and the receiving individual. Where there is no mutuality, it is difficult to construct or maintain the political will to protect social protection rights, whether by government or the population at large.

In the South African case, which has a strong legal framework and where social

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Harrell-Bond, B. E. (1986). <u>Imposing Aid: emergency assistance to refugees</u>. Oxford, Oxford University Press, Verdirame, G. and B. E. Harrell-Bond (2004). <u>Rights in Exile: Violations of Refugee Rights in Camps</u>. 9th IASFM, Sao Paolo, Brazil, 9-12 January 2005.

protection is the mandate of mainstream public institutions, the challenges in implementing effective social protection are different but no less severe. They include:

- The exposure of R&AS to general problems in gaining access to services which mirror problems experienced by vulnerable citizens, including high access costs; inconsistent application of access assistance by service providers such as school fee exemptions or free emergency health care; insufficient resources and staff among service provider institutions leading to poor service and long queues; and limited supplies of medication, classrooms or housing units.
- The *expectation that R&AS can fend for themselves*. In a system based on selfsupporting integration, public social protection mechanisms are in place only for emergencies and cases of exceptional hardship, while the everyday provision of food, shelter and basic necessities are assumed to be the responsibility of each individual, based on income from work or informal social support networks. While many refugees are able to support themselves financially, this is not always the case. Where R&AS struggle to access income generation activities, whether formal or informal, and where informal social networks are missing, there are few support structures which provide a social safety net for the most vulnerable among refugees and asylum seekers.
- The *lack of knowledge of refugee and asylum seeker rights among public service providers* leading to refusal of services and abuse. In contrast to dedicated non-governmental service providers, whose main task is to work with refugees, public sector services rightly focus mainly on citizens and therefore consider R&AS at best a marginal constituency and at worst competitors for scarce public resources. The dispersed nature of public sector service providers in refugee rights, since it would be necessary to target all teachers, nurses, social workers, etc. in the country.

# 7. Good Practices and other Policy Considerations

The main implications from national practices in the case study countries include:

- Effective social protection needs a strong national legal framework granting civil and socio-economic rights to refugees.
- Domestic service providers have proven to be more effective, though should be well informed about the legal framework and special case of refugees.
- It is important to continuously monitor the social protection provision by the civil society or quasi-governmental monitoring agencies.

Altogether the debate about social protection of refugees is rather weak as the international and regional frameworks and its implementations show. On the global level one (financial) suggestion has been to introduce a compulsory global social protection fund, paid into by states, from which social protection for refugees, asylum seekers and other displaced persons could be financed. Regionally, further discussion has centred on including social protection into institutional models that facilitate movement within the

SADC. Despite the urgent need to solve the issue, the results of this research show that countries are far from action in this respect due to many other problems in their countries—some of them being the very cause for refugee flows in the first place—and that there is little evidence that refugee protection will be at the top of their agenda in the near future.

### References

- (1951). United Nations Convention relating to the Status of Refugees.
- (1969). OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa.
- Bureau of Democracy, H. R., and Labor, (2006). Lesotho. <u>Country Reports on Human</u> <u>Rights Practices</u>. U.S. Department of State. <u>http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2006/78741.htm</u>.
- Bureau of Democracy, H. R., and Labor, (2006). Mauritius. <u>Country Reports on Human</u> <u>Rights Practices</u>. U.S. Department of

State. http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2006/78747.htm.

- CRMSA, D. Cote, et al. (2007). Protecting Refugees and Asylum Seekers in South Africa - 2007. L. B. Landau. Johannesburg, Consortium for Refugees and Migrants in South Africa.
- Department of Health (2007). Revenue Directive Refugees / Asylum Seekers with or without a permit, BI 4/29 REFUG/ASYL 8 2007, 19 September 2007.
- FMSP (2003). Human Displacement, Survival and the Politics of Space: Joburg Study Final Results, Forced Migration Studies Programme, University of the Witwatersrand.
- García, A. B. and J. V. Gruat (2003). Social Protection: A Life Cycle Continuum Investment for Social Justice, Poverty Reduction and Sustainable Development Geneva, International Labor Office.
- Gumedze, S. (2001). Refugee Protection in Swaziland <u>http://www.sarpn.org.za/CountryPovertyPapers/Swaziland/Refugee/in</u> <u>dex.php</u> accessed on 19th May 2007, Southern African Regional Poverty Network.
- Harrell-Bond, B. E. (1986). <u>Imposing Aid: emergency assistance to refugees</u>. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Holzmann, R. and S. Jorgensen (2001). "Social Risk Management: A New Conceptual Framework for Social Protection, and Beyond "<u>International Tax and Public</u> <u>Finance</u> 8(4): 529-556.
- Human Rights Watch (2007). 'Keep your head down'; Unprotected Migrants in South Africa.
- Manuel, T. (2006). "Speech delivered by the Minister of Finance, Mr Trevor A Manuel, MP, at the Institute of Personnel Management." Retrieved 29 May 2006, from <u>http://www.info.gov.za/speeches/2006/06101114151003.htm</u>.
- Matlou, P. M. (1992). Botswana: The Linkage Between State Security and Refugee Policy. **Phd**.
- National Consortium of Refugee Affairs (2006). Summary of Key Findings: Refugee Protection in South Africa. Pretoria.
- PlusNews (2007). The effect of migration on HIV rates <u>IRIN</u>. Francistown. **13** September
- Polhemus, J. H. (1985). "The refugee factor in Botswana." <u>Immigrants and Minorities</u> **4**(1): 31.
- Polzer, T. (2007). "Adapting to Changing Legal Frameworks: Mozambican Refugees in South Africa - an Historical Overview." <u>International Journal of Refugee Law</u> 19(1): 22-50.
- Polzer, T. (2007). Responding to Zimbabwean Migration to South Africa Evaluating

Options. Johannesburg, Wits Forced Migration Studies Programme, Wits Law School and Lawyers for Human Rights: 29.

- Reid, C. (2005). "International Law and Legal Instruments." <u>Forced Migration Online</u> <u>Study Guide</u>.
- Stone, L. and S. Winterstein (2003). A Right or a Privilege? Access to Basic Education for Refugee and Asylum-Seeker Children in South Africa. Pretoria, National Consortium for Refugee Affairs.

U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants (2007). World Refugee Survey.

UNHCR (2006). 2006 Global Trends: Refugees, Asylum-seekers, Returnees, Internally Displaced and Stateless Persons. Geneva, UNHCR.

UNHCR (2006). Country Operations Plan Botswana - Overview.

UNHCR (2007). Global Appeal.

Verdirame, G. and B. E. Harrell-Bond (2004). <u>Rights in Exile: Violations of Refugee</u> <u>Rights in Camps</u>. 9th IASFM, Sao Paolo, Brazil, 9-12 January 2005.

# Social Protection Discussion Paper Series Titles

<u>No.</u>	<u>Title</u>
0910	Unemployment Insurance Savings Accounts in Latin America: Overview and Assessment by Ana M. Ferrer and W. Craig Riddell, June 2009 (online only)
0909	Definitions, Good Practices, and Global Estimates on the Status of Social Protection for International Migrants by Johanna Avato, Johannes Koettl, and Rachel Sabates-Wheeler, May 2009 (online only)
0908	Regional Overview of Social Protection for Non-Citizens in the Southern African Development Community (SADC) by Marius Olivier, May 2009 (online only)
0907	Introducing Unemployment Insurance to Developing Countries by Milan Vodopivec, May 2009 (online only)
0906	Social Protection for Refugees and Asylum Seekers in the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) by Mpho Makhema, April 2009 (online only)
0905	How to Make Public Works Work: A Review of the Experiences by Carlo del Ninno, Kalanidhi Subbarao and Annamaria Milazzo, May 2009 (online only)
0904	Slavery and Human Trafficking: International Law and the Role of the World Bank by María Fernanda Perez Solla, April 2009 (online only)
0903	Pension Systems for the Informal Sector in Asia edited by Landis MacKellar, March 2009 (online only)
0902	Structural Educational Reform: Evidence from a Teacher's Displacement Program in Armenia by Arvo Kuddo, January 2009 (online only)
0901	Non-performance of the Severance Pay Program in Slovenia by Milan Vodopivec, Lilijana Madzar, Primož Dolenc, January 2009 (online only)
0838	Investing for the Old Age: Pensions, Children and Savings by Vincenzo Galasso, Roberta Gatti and Paola Profeta, December 2008 (online only)

0837	Can the Introduction of a Minimum Wage in FYR Macedonia Decrease the Gender Wage Gap?
	by Diego F. Angel-Urdinola, December 2008 (online only)
0836	Highly Labor-Intensive Public Works in Madagascar: Issues and Policy Options by Nirina Haja Andrianjaka and Annamaria Milazzo, October 2008 (online only)
0835	Can Conditional Cash Transfer Programs Play a Greater Role in Reducing Child Undernutrition? by Lucy Bassett, October 2008
0834	The Performance of Social Pensions in India: The Case of Rajasthan by Puja Vasudeva Dutta, July 2008 (online only)
0833	Labor Regulations in Developing Countries: A Review of the Evidence and Directions for Future Research by Tito Boeri, Brooke Helppie, Mario Macis, October 2008 (online only)
0832	The Incentives to Invest in Job Training: Do Strict Labor Codes Influence this Decision? by Rita K. Almeida and Reyes Aterido, October 2008 (online only)
0831	Reforming the Pension Reforms: The Recent Initiatives and Actions on Pensions in Argentina and Chile by Rafael Rofman, Eduardo Fajnzylber and German Herrera, May 2008 (online only)
0830	Community-based Risk Management Arrangements: An Overview and Implications for Social Fund Programs by Ruchira Bhattamishra and Christopher B. Barrett, October 2008
0829	Work History and the Access to Contributory Pensions in Uruguay: Some Facts and Policy Options by Marisa Bucheli, Alvaro Forteza and Ianina Rossi, May 2008 (online only)
0828	A Theory of Contribution Density and Implications for Pension Design by Salvador Valdés-Prieto, July 2008 (online only)
0827	On the Financial Sustainability of Earnings-Related Pension Schemes with "Pay-As-You-Go" Financing by David A. Robalino and András Bodor, July 2008 (online only)

0826	An Ex-Ante Evaluation of the Impact of Social Insurance Policies on Labor Supply in Brazil: The Case for Explicit Over Implicit Redistribution by David A. Robalino, Eduardo Zylberstajn, Helio Zylberstajn and Luis Eduardo Afonso, July 2008 (online only)
0825	The Portability of Pension Rights: General Principals and the Caribbean Case by Alvaro Forteza, May 2008 (online only)
0824	Pension Systems and Reform Conceptual Framework by Robert Holzmann, Richard Paul Hinz and Mark Dorfman, September 2008 (online only)
0823	Mandated Benefits, Employment, and Inequality in a Dual Economy by Rita Almeida and Pedro Carneiro, August 2008 (online only)
0822	The Return to Firm Investments in Human Capital by Rita Almeida and Pedro Carneiro, June 2008 (online only)
0821	Population Aging and the Labor Market: The Case of Sri Lanka by Milan Vodopivec and Nisha Arunatilake, August 2008 (online only)
0820	China: Improving Unemployment Insurance by Milan Vodopivec and Minna Hahn Tong, July 2008 (online only)
0819	Management Information Systems in Social Safety Net Programs: A Look at Accountability and Control Mechanisms by Cesar Baldeon and Maria D. Arribas-Baños, August 2008 (online only)
0818	Guidance for Responses from the Human Development Sectors to Rising Food Prices by Margaret Grosh, Carlo del Ninno and Emil Daniel Tesliuc, June 2008 (Revised and published as a non-SP Discussion Paper)
0817	Levels and Patterns of Safety Net Spending in Developing and Transition Countries by Christine Weigand and Margaret Grosh, June 2008 (online only)
0816	Labor Regulation and Employment in India's Retail Stores by Mohammad Amin, June 2008 (online only)
0815	Beyond DALYs: Developing Indicators to Assess the Impact of Public Health Interventions on the Lives of People with Disabilities by Daniel Mont and Mitchell Loeb, May 2008
0814	Enforcement of Labor Regulation and Firm Size by Rita Almeida and Pedro Carneiro, May 2008 (online only)

0813	Labor Markets Lending and Analytical Work at the World Bank: FY2002-2007
	by Milan Vodopivec, Jean Fares and Michael Justesen, May 2008
0812	Risk and Vulnerability Analysis in the World Bank Analytic Work: FY2000-2007
	by Valerie Kozel, Pierre Fallavier and Reena Badiani, May 2008
0811	Pension Lending and Analytical Work at the World Bank: FY2002-2007 by Richard Hinz, Melike Egelmelzer and Sergei Biletsky, May 2008 (online only)
0810	Social Safety Nets Lending and Analytical Work at the World Bank: FY2002-2007
	by Margaret Grosh and Annamaria Milazzo, May 2008
0809	Social Funds as an Instrument of Social Protection: An Analysis of Lending Trends - FY2000-2007 by Samantha De Silva and June Wei Sum, July 2008
0808	Disability & Development in the World Bank: FY2000-2007 by Jeanine Braithwaite, Richard Carroll, and Karen Peffley, May 2008
0807	Migration, Labor Markets, and Integration of Migrants: An Overview for Europe by Rainer Münz, April 2008 (online only)
0806	Is the Window of Opportunity Closing for Brazilian Youth? Labor Market Trends and Business Cycle Effects by Michael Justesen, April 2008
0805	Disability and Poverty: A Survey of World Bank Poverty Assessments and Implications by Jeanine Braithwaite and Daniel Mont, February 2008
0804	Poverty Traps and Social Protection by Christopher B. Barrett, Michael R. Carter and Munenobu Ikegami, February 2008
0803	Live Longer, Work Longer: Making It Happen in the Labor Market by Milan Vodopivec and Primoz Dolenc, February 2008 (online only)
0802	Disability in Kazakhstan: An Evaluation of Official Data by Ai-Gul S. Seitenova and Charles M. Becker, February 2008 (online only)

0801	Disability Insurance with Pre-funding and Private Participation: The Chilean Model by Estelle James, Augusto Iglesias and Alejandra Cox Edwards, January 2008
0719	The Life-Course Perspective and Social Policies: An Issues Note by A.L. Bovenberg, November 2007
0718	Social Safety Nets and Targeted Social Assistance: Lessons from the European Experience by Chris de Neubourg, Julie Castonguay and Keetie Roelen, November 2007 (online only)
0717	Informality and Social Protection: Preliminary Results from Pilot Surveys in Bulgaria and Colombia by Franco Peracchi, Valeria Perotti and Stefano Scarpetta, October 2007 (online only)
0716	How Labor Market Policies can Combine Workers' Protection with Job Creation: A Partial Review of Some Key Issues and Policy Options by Gaëlle Pierre and Stefano Scarpetta, October 2007 (online only)
0715	A Review of Interventions to Support Young Workers: Findings of the Youth Employment Inventory by Gordon Betcherman, Martin Godfrey, Susana Puerto, Friederike Rother, and Antoneta Stavreska, October 2007
0714	Performance of Social Safety Net Programs in Uttar Pradesh by Mohamed Ihsan Ajwad, October 2007
0713	Are All Labor Regulations Equal? Assessing the Effects of Job Security, Labor Dispute and Contract Labor Laws in India by Ahmad Ahsan and Carmen Pagés, June 2007
0712	Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Its Implementation and Relevance for the World Bank by Katherine Guernsey, Marco Nicoli and Alberto Ninio, June 2007
0711	Reaching the Poor and Vulnerable: Targeting Strategies for Social Funds and other Community-Driven Programs by Julie Van Domelen, May 2007
0710	The Macedonia Community Development Project: Empowerment through Targeting and Institution Building by Caroline Mascarell, May 2007

0709	The Nuts and Bolts of Brazil's Bolsa Família Program: Implementing Conditional Cash Transfers in a Decentralized Context by Kathy Lindert, Anja Linder, Jason Hobbs and Bénédicte de la Brière, May 2007 (online only)
0708	Globalization and Employment Conditions Study by Drusilla K. Brown, April 2007
0707	The Kosovo Pension Reform: Achievements and Lessons by John Gubbels, David Snelbecker and Lena Zezulin, April 2007 (online only)
0706	Measuring Disability Prevalence by Daniel Mont, March 2007
0705	Social Safety Nets in World Bank Lending and Analytic Work: FY2002- 2006 by Annamaria Milazzo and Margaret Grosh, March 2007 (online only)
0704	Child Labor and Youth Employment: Ethiopia Country Study by Lorenzo Guarcello and Furio Rosati, March 2007
0703	Aging and Demographic Change in European Societies: Main Trends and Alternative Policy Options by Rainer Muenz, March 2007 (online only)
0702	Seasonal Migration and Early Childhood Development by Karen Macours and Renos Vakis, March 2007
0701	The Social Assimilation of Immigrants by Domenico de Palo, Riccardo Faini and Alessandra Venturini, February 2007 (online only)

# To view Social Protection Discussion papers published prior to 2007, please visit www.worldbank.org/sp.



#### **Summary Findings**

This report provides an overview of the provision of social protection to refugees and asylum seekers from Sub-Saharan Africa in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). This includes analyzing the legal framework and levels of implementation, as well as proposing policy directions on the national and regional levels. After giving an overview of the region's historical and legal context, the report focuses on the case studies of Botswana and South Africa to illustrate the wide variation of social protection framework and practices in the region.

#### HUMAN DEVELOPMENT NETWORK

#### About this series...

Social Protection Discussion Papers are published to communicate the results of The World Bank's work to the development community with the least possible delay. The typescript manuscript of this paper therefore has not been prepared in accordance with the procedures appropriate to formally edited texts. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed herein are those of the author(s), and do not necessarily reflect the views of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank and its affiliated organizations, or those of the Executive Directors of The World Bank or the governments they represent. The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this work.

For free copies of this paper, please contact the Social Protection Advisory Service, The World Bank, 1818 H Street, N.W., MSN G7-703, Washington, D.C. 20433 USA. Telephone: (202) 458-5267, Fax: (202) 614-0471, E-mail: socialprotection@worldbank.org or visit the Social Protection website at www.worldbank.org/sp.